047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE
NOV 23 1992
CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

Chief Deputy Clerk

FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 80,685

vs.

5th DCA NO. 92-102

ORANGE COUNTY FLORIDA, et. al.,

Respondents.

APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON MERITS

Respectfully submitted,

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
ATTORNEY GENERAL
Joseph C. Mellichamp, III
Senior Asst. Attorney General
Jeffrey M. Dikman*
Fla. Bar #274224
Assistant Attorney General
Department of Legal Affairs
The Capitol-Tax Section
Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050
(904) 487-2142

* COUNSEL OF RECORD FOR THE PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on Appeal consists of one volume. When citing the record herein, the Department will use the following format:

R: , followed by the page number(s) of the record.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

A. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The facts are not in dispute. R:97 Finding of Fact #1. The pertinent facts are set forth in that part of an order entitled "Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law Supporting Court's Order on Cross-Motions for Summary Judgment." R:97-103. Except where brackets appear (to substitute the word "Respondents" for "Plaintiffs", etc.), the Circuit Court's undisputed factual findings are quoted *verbatim*, in their entirety, as follows. 1

- 1. [The Circuit Court] accept[ed] the representations of
 Counsel for the parties that there are no disputed issues of
 material fact. R:97, Finding of Fact ("hereinafter, "FOF"), #1.
- 2. [Respondents], Battaglia Fruit Co., Inc. and Battaglia
 Properties, Ltd. (hereinafter, jointly "Battaglia"), are Florida
 Corporations with their commercial domicile in Orange County.
 R:97, FOF #2.
- 3. [Respondent], Orange County, Florida, is a political subdivision of the State of Florida (hereinafter, "Orange County"). R:97, FOF #3.

 $^{^{}m l}$ The Department does not suggest that the Respondents agreed to the Circuit Court's legal findings, but that Court's factual findings were undisputed.

- 4. [Petitioner], the Department of Revenue (hereinafter, "the Department") is an agency of the State of Florida, responsible, in part, for the assessment, levy and collection of taxes, including documentary stamp tax. R:98, FOF #4.
- 5. On December 27, 1988, Battaglia and Orange County executed two separate agreements for the sale of two separate parcels of land located in Orange County, Florida. R:98, FOF #5.
- 6. The agreements were executed by Battaglia under threat of condemnation and in lieu of eminent domain proceedings. R:98, FOF #6.
- 7. The agreements, which were filed with the Court as exhibits to the Motion to Add Plaintiff, set forth the material terms of the contracts for sale of realty between Battaglia and Orange County, including the purchase price for each of the properties. R:98, FOF #7.
- 8. As can be seen from a review of the agreements, Orange County and Battaglia contemplated that no documentary stamp taxes would be due on deeds executed under threat of condemnation.

 R:98, FOF #8.
- 9. Hence, when the deeds were executed by Battaglia and recorded on or about April 14, 1989, no documentary stamp taxes were paid by either party to the transaction. R:98, FOF #9.
- 10. On January 14, 1991, the Department issued two Notices of Proposed Assessment of tax, interest and penalty against Battaglia. The penalty portions of the assessments were subsequently withdrawn, leaving only tax and interest at issue. R:98, FOF #10.

- 11. Battaglia timely protested the proposed assessments by filing [a Circuit Court] action, and has also posted a cash bond pursuant to Section 72.011, Florida Statutes. R:98, FOF #11.
- 12. Although Orange County is <u>contractually</u> obligated to Battaglia to reimburse Battaglia for the payment of the documentary stamp taxes at issue, the Department did <u>not</u> assess Orange County, which was exempt from payment of the documentary stamp tax. R:99, FOF #12.
- 13. It is undisputed that Battaglia and Orange County relied, in part, on a provision of the Department's rules which has since been repealed. The repealed provision, contained within Florida Administrative Code Rule 12B-4.14(15)(b), erroneously recited that deeds executed under threat of condemnation were exempt from documentary stamp taxation. R:99, FOF #13.
- 14. It is also undisputed that the April 14, 1990² deeds, giving rise to the assessment, were executed <u>prior</u> to the repeal of the aforementioned rule provision but <u>subsequent</u> to the enactment of Chapter 87-102, Section 6, Laws of Fla.³, which amended Section 201.01, Florida Statutes, effective June 30, 1987, to provide in pertinent part:

Unless exempt under §201.24 or under any state or federal law, if the United States, the state, or any political subdivision of the state is a party to a document

As finding of fact number 9 shows, the correct date was April 14, 1989, not April 14, 1990, but this difference, which is attributable to typographical error, would not be material. Either date is post-1987 amendment.

³ A copy is also attached hereto as Appendix "A."

taxable under this chapter, any tax specified in this chapter shall be paid by a nonexempt party to the document. (e.s.)

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Battaglia filed suit in circuit court pursuant to §72.011, Florida Statutes, challenging the documentary stamp tax assessments which had been issued solely against Battaglia. R:31-35. The Department filed its answer. R:36-38. Battaglia, together with Orange County, then moved for Orange County to be added as an additional party Plaintiff. The Department did not oppose this motion. R:39-53. The Circuit Court granted the unopposed motion and added Orange County as a party Plaintiff. R:60-61.

Respondents, Battaglia and Orange County, moved for summary judgment. R:54-56. In response, the Department cross-moved for summary judgment. R:57-59. In support of the Department's cross-motion, the Department also filed a memorandum of law with exhibits. R:117-136. One exhibit consisted of a Legislative Staff Report entitled "Senate Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement," Committee Substitute for Senate Bill 142, dated May 7, 1987. R:131-134, attached hereto as Appendix "B."

Respondents provided the Court with additional legal materials, by way of an "appendix." R:62-96. Respondents' appendix included, among other things, an earlier but practically identical February 4, 1987, version of the above-quoted legislative staff report. R:70-73.

Both the motion and the cross-motion for summary judgment were heard on November 25, 1991. R:1-30. After hearing the

arguments of counsel, and having been provided by each party with the materials described above, the Circuit Court entered summary judgment against Battaglia (but not against Orange County), for a sum certain. R:104-106. The Circuit Court also directed the Clerk to disburse these sums to the Department out of the Court registry. R:104-106.

The Department received its check from the Clerk in the sum of \$25,814.96. This check, which was paid out of funds deposited by Battaglia, represents full payment of the judgment entered against Battaglia.

The Circuit Court also entered a separate order entitled "Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law Supporting Court's Order on Cross-Motions for Summary Judgment." R:97-103. That order sets forth in detail the Circuit Court's findings of fact and legal reasoning. Respondents timely appealed to the Fifth District Court of Appeal. R:107-108.

Prior to briefing, the Department informed the District Court, by written notice, that there was simultaneously pending before that very same District Court a closely related but not identical appeal in <u>Department of Revenue v. A. Duda & Sons</u>, Case No. 91-2585 (Fla. 5th DCA October 30, 1992). The Department filed these notices because both cases involved documentary stamp taxes assessed against private companies on deeds executed in lieu of threatened condemnation by County government. Moreover, both cases involved the same time period (i.e., after the

 $^{^4}$ A similar notice was also filed in A. Duda & Sons, advising the Court of the pendency of the instant case.

enactment of a 1987 amendment but prior to corresponding amendment of the Department's rules).

Notwithstanding these notices, the two appeals were not consolidated and were instead assigned to separate panels of the District Court. After separate oral arguments, on separate days, before two separate panels of the same District Court of Appeal, two separate opinions were rendered. Neither opinion references the other.

Although the District Court reversed the Circuit Court's decision against the Department in A. Duda & Sons, the same District Court also reversed the lower Court's decision in the instant case, which had been in favor of the Department.

In reversing the Circuit Court in the instant case, the District Court held that the Department had "indirectly taxed" Orange County because Orange County's contract (unlike the contracts of other counties in A. Duda & Sons) provided for reimbursement to Battaglia. The District Court also ruled that the Legislature lacked the power to waive the tax immunity of a county, and that hence, any "indirect tax" against a County was unconstitutional.

⁵ Compare, the opinion in <u>A. Duda & Sons</u>, Appendix "C" with the opinion in the instant case, Appendix "D."

Finally, the District Court certified the following question to this Court:

WHEN A PROPERTY OWNER CONVEYS PROPERTY TO A COUNTY UNDER THREAT OF CONDEMNATION AND IN LIEU OF EMINENT DOMAIN PROCEEDINGS AND THE COUNTY IS CONTRACTUALLY BOUND TO PAY ANY DOCUMENTARY STAMP TAX ASSESSED BY THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE ON THE TRANSACTION, IS THE TRANSACTION IMMUNE FROM SUCH TAXATION EVEN THOUGH THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE IMPOSES THE TAX DIRECTLY UPON THE PROPERTY OWNER?

The Department timely petitioned for discretionary review by this Court. On October 28, 1992, this Court entered an Order Postponing Decision on Jurisdiction and Briefing Schedule. The Department submits this brief in accordance with that schedule.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court correctly found, as a question of undisputed fact, that Orange County was not assessed documentary stamp tax liability. R:99, paragraph 12. This undisputed fact was clear from Battaglia's own Complaint. R:31-35. The challenged assessments, which are attached to the Complaint, assess tax liability against Battaglia, not against Orange County. R:34-35. Similarly, the Final Judgment awards judgment against Battaglia, not against Orange County. R:98, paragraph 10: R:105.

The Department's actions in assessing Battaglia were wholly consistent with the provisions contained within Chapter 87-102, §6, Laws of Fla., Appendix "A," which provides:

Unless exempt under §201.24 or under any state or federal law, if the United States, the state, or any political subdivision of the state is a party to a document taxable under this chapter, any tax specified in this chapter shall be paid by a nonexempt party to the document. (e.s.)

Nevertheless, contrary to the above-quoted statute, and also to the undisputed facts, the District Court erroneously concluded, as a question of law, that the Department was "indirectly" and unconstitutionally taxing Orange County. That is, the District Court erroneously held that Orange County's immunity from taxation extended to the entire "transaction" with Battaglia. See, Appendix "D."

In reaching these erroneous conclusions, the District Court relied primarily upon a judicially created notion of transactional tax immunity. However, the District Court failed to take into account that this judicially created notion of transactional immunity had been legislatively superceded in 1987, by the above-quoted amendment.

- 8 -

The judicial creation of a doctrine of transactional tax immunity represented a departure from earlier state case law, and also, a departure from federal laws on which Florida's documentary stamp tax is patterned. Earlier federal and state documentary stamp tax case law held that governmental immunity was personal to the governmental entity. Then, a series of cases created a doctrine extending the tax immunity of a governmental entity to an entire transaction with that entity.

In 1987, the Legislature rejected this unduly expansive notion of transactional tax immunity, which had eroded Florida's tax base. Instead, the Legislature reinstituted the earlier case law standard of entity tax immunity. A statutory return to the earlier immunity standard made Florida law, once again, harmonious with federal documentary stamp tax law.

The decision of the District Court in the instant case and in a simultaneously pending related case agreed with the Department on the issue of statutory construction. See, Florida Department of Revenue v. A. Duda & Sons, Inc., Case No. 91-2585 (Fla. 5th DCA October 30, 1992), attached as Appendix "C." That is, the District Court's disagreement with the Department was over the constitutionality of the statute as applied in the instant case, not over the meaning of the amendment.

The District Court's determination that the statute had been unconstitutionally applied was erroneous. The District Court based its decision on an erroneous belief that this Court's decision in Lewis v. The Florida Bar, 372 So.2d 1121 (Fla. 1979) was indistinguishable. Yet, the Florida Bar decision is easily distinguishable from the instant case.

First, in the <u>Florida Bar</u> decision, the Supreme Court took judicial notice of the indisputable fact that lenders "universally require" borrowers to pay taxes arising in connection with loan documentation. This judicial notice of universality was the springboard from which the Supreme Court concluded that the Florida Bar was being indirectly taxed.

In the instant case, the Court can take judicial notice that sellers ordinarily pay documentary stamp taxes on a deed, although this is subject to negotiation. Also, the Court can take judicial notice of the nonfinal decision in A. Duda & Sons, appendix "C," wherein other governmental entities required the seller to pay the tax; correctly and properly refusing to reimburse the private taxpayer for any of its personal tax liabilities.

In other words, the Department did not "indirectly tax"

Orange County; Orange County voluntarily agreed (unlike the local governments involved in A. Duda & Sons) to reimburse Battaglia for some of its tax liabilities. By voluntarily agreeing to pay the tax, which had never been assessed against Orange County,

Orange County waived any conceivable claim of immunity from its own contractual undertaking.

The <u>Florida Bar</u> decision is also distinguishable for a second reason: it involved separation of powers issues. The Florida Bar is an arm of the judicial branch of government. The judicial branch of government is a co-equal branch of government to the Legislature. Orange County, on the other hand is merely a

creation of the Legislature. Unlike the Florida Bar case, no separation of powers issue even arises in the instant case. Counties are not a fourth branch of government and have no special constitutional protection from legislative waiver of immunity. The Florida Bar decision is distinguishable because it predates the controlling amendment in question, which was designed, in part to overcome this particular decision.

Finally, the District Court erred in determining that the immunity of Orange County from direct taxation (or its immunity from allegedly "indirect" taxation), could not be constitutionally waived by statute or by contract. In both Dickinson v. City of Tallahassee, 325 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1975) and State v. Alford, 107 So.2d 27 (Fla. 1958) this Court held that, absent specific constitutional prohibition, immunity could be waived by a proper legislative enactment. There is no specific constitutional prohibition against the instant legislative waiver of immunity. Furthermore, unlike the general act in Dickinson, and the special act in Alford, the legislative waiver is clear in Chapter 87-102, §6, Laws of Florida. Yet, the District Court misread these decisions as holding that any legislative waiver would be unconstitutional. 7

⁶ Article VIII, §1(a), Fla. Const. provides that Counties are inferior governments which may be entirely abolished by statute, without constitutional amendment.

However, the Department does agree with one holding of the District Court: the holding that the plain and unambiguous language of the 1987 amendment superceded an earlier enacted administrative rule. See, Opinion in A. Duda & Sons, Appendix "C."

ARGUMENT

The District Court certified the following question:

WHEN A PROPERTY OWNER CONVEYS PROPERTY TO A COUNTY UNDER THREAT OF CONDEMNATION AND IN LIEU OF EMINENT DOMAIN PROCEEDINGS <u>AND</u> THE COUNTY IS CONTRACTUALLY BOUND TO PAY ANY DOCUMENTARY STAMP TAX ASSESSED BY THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE ON THE TRANSACTION, IS THE TRANSACTION IMMUNE FROM SUCH TAXATION EVEN THOUGH THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE IMPOSES THE TAX DIRECTLY UPON THE PROPERTY OWNER? (e.s.)

A review of the District Courts decision, reveals three fundamental errors in its reasoning, which are as follows:

- A. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRONEOUSLY CONCLUDED THAT A COUNTY'S "IMMUNITY" FROM EXCISE TAXATION EXTENDS TO AN ENTIRE "TRANSACTION" WITH A PRIVATE PARTY.
- B. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRONEOUSLY CONCLUDED THAT A CONTRACT, TO WHICH THE DEPARTMENT WAS NOT A SIGNATORY, DETERMINED THE LAWFULNESS OF THE DEPARTMENT'S ASSESSMENT.
- C. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRONEOUSLY ASSUMED THAT IT WOULD BE UNCONSTITUTIONAL FOR THE LEGISLATURE TO WAIVE THE TAX IMMUNITY OF A COUNTY.
- A. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRONEOUSLY CONCLUDED THAT A COUNTY'S "IMMUNITY" FROM EXCISE TAXATION EXTENDS TO AN ENTIRE "TRANSACTION" WITH A PRIVATE PARTY.

The Circuit Court correctly found, as a question of undisputed fact, that Orange County was not assessed documentary stamp tax liability. R:99, paragraph 12. This undisputed fact

As will be discussed below, the same District Court recently reached an opposite and correct conclusion in a related case. That case differed factually in one respect only: in <u>Department of Revenue v. A. Duda & Sons</u>, Case No. 91-2585 (Fla. 5th DCA, October 30, 1992) Appendix "C," the counties involved, unlike Orange County, refused to contractually agree to reimburse Duda for its documentary stamp tax liability. The Department believes that this factual distinction is immaterial, since the Department was not privy to either the <u>Duda</u> contract negotiations or the <u>Battaglia</u> contract negotiations. The ability of the Department to consistently and equally enforce the tax statutes should not be dependent on the outcome of negotiations to which neither the Legislature nor the Department were ever involved. <u>See Florida</u> Municipal Power Agency, infra.

was clear from Battaglia's own Complaint. R:31-35. The challenged assessments, which are attached to the Complaint, assess tax liability against Battaglia, not against Orange County. R:34-35. Similarly, the Final Judgment awards judgment against Battaglia, not against Orange County. R:98, paragraph 10: R:105.

Nevertheless, contrary to the undisputed facts, the District Court erroneously concluded, as a question of law, that the Department was "indirectly" taxing the County. The District Court erroneously held that Orange County's immunity from taxation extended to the entire "transaction" with Battaglia. See, Appendix "D."

In reaching these erroneous conclusions, the District Court relied primarily upon a judicially created notion of transactional tax immunity. However, the District Court erred in failing to take into account that this judicial doctrine of transactional tax immunity had been legislatively superceded in 1987. 10

The judicial creation of a doctrine of transactional tax immunity represented a departure from earlier state and federal case law. Earlier federal and state documentary stamp tax case law held that governmental immunity was personal to the governmental

It is interesting to note that the Department's judgment against Battaglia was satisfied out of moneys deposited into the registry of the Court by Battaglia, not out of moneys deposited by Orange County. R:98, FOF #11. However, the Department does not suggest that the source of funds used to satisfy a judgment should govern the validity of the assessment and judgment against Battaglia.

The controlling 1987 amendment, which superceded pre-1987 case law, (hereinafter, "the amendment"), is contained within Ch. 87-102, §6, Laws of Fla. See, Appendix "A."

entity. Then, a series of cases created a doctrine extending the tax immunity of a governmental entity to an entire transaction with that entity.

In 1987, the Legislature, by enacting Chapter 87-102, §6, Laws of Fla., rejected this unduly expansive notion of transactional tax immunity, which had eroded the State's tax base. Instead, the Legislature, through the 1987 amendment, reinstituted the earlier case law standard of entity tax immunity. This amendment made Florida law, once again, harmonious with federal law.

The Circuit Court properly declined to revive the judicially created and legislatively superceded doctrine of transactional tax immunity. Instead, the Circuit Court correctly recognized that the judicially created doctrine of transactional tax immunity had been legislatively superceded by a controlling 1987 statutory amendment. R:100-102. Therefore, the superceded doctrine was inapplicable to the 1989 deeds at issue.

Section 201.01, Fla. Stat., (1987), as amended, provides in pertinent part:

Unless exempt under §201.24 or under any state or federal law, if the United States, the state, or any political subdivision of the state is a party to a document taxable under this chapter, any tax specified in this chapter shall be paid by a nonexempt party to the document.

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