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

POINT I

WHEN A PROPERTY OWNER CONVEYS PROPERTY TO A COUNTY UNDER THREAT OF CONDEMNATION AND IN LIEU OF EMINENT DOMAIN PROCEEDINGS AND THE COUNTY IS CONTRACTUALLY BOUND TO PAY ANY DOCUMENTARY STAMP TAX ASSESSED BY THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE ON THE TRANSACTION, THE TRANSACTION IS IMMUNE FROM SUCH TAXATION.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal ("DCA") correctly concluded that § 201.01, Fla. Stat., as applied to the facts of this case, would improperly impose documentary stamp tax on Orange County. Orange County, as a political subdivision of the State of Florida, enjoys the same immunity from taxation as the State itself. This case involves immunity from tax, in contrast to exemption from tax.

Orange County is immune because it is part of the state itself, i.e. it is a political subdivision of the state. The 1987 Amendment acknowledges such status and immunity with the language "any political subdivision of the state". The immunity of Florida counties has been long recognized and undisputed. The cases cited by the 5th DCA are controlling authority on this point. <u>Park-N-Shop</u> <u>v. Sparkman</u>, 99 So. 2d 571 (Fla. 1959); <u>Dickinson v. City of</u> <u>Tallahassee</u>, 325 So. 2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1975) ("The State's immunity from taxation is so well established that little elaboration is needed here").

Petitioner recognizes that Orange County is immune. Fla. Admin. Code Rule 12B-4.103 states that counties are immune, so immune that under this rule, Petitioner would not recognize payment of the documentary stamp tax by Orange County ("The affixing of stamp tax to an instrument by the state, county, municipality or a

-7-

political subdivision thereof does not constitute payment of the tax..."). Petitioner's waiver argument in its Initial Brief can not be reconciled with this rule. On the one hand, Petitioner argues that Orange County waived its immunity and must pay, but Petitioner's rule would not allow Petitioner to recognize payment by the county. Petitioner appears to have gone too far in this rule and identified municipalities as tax immune. Municipalities are not immune; the legislature may grant exemption for municipalities. <u>City of Orlando v. Hausman</u>, 534 So. 2d 1183 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988).

The Fifth DCA correctly applied Lewis v. Florida Bar, 372 So. 2d 1121 (Fla. 1979) as controlling authority. The fact pattern in Lewis and the instant case are substantively the same. In <u>Lewis</u>, The Florida Bar borrowed money from Barnett Bank to build the Florida Bar headquarters. As part of the loan agreement, The Florida Bar agreed to pay all taxes which might be due. No documentary stamp tax was paid at the closing of the loan. FDOR assessed Barnett Bank, the "private" party, for the documentary stamp tax plus interest and penalty. Barnett Bank, in turn, made demand on The Florida Bar's contractual obligation to pay all taxes. The Florida Bar paid FDOR's assessment under protest. The Florida Bar sought a refund. FDOR denied the refund. Litigation ensued.

This Court decided <u>Lewis</u> on the basis of (1) the immunity from taxation of the Florida Bar and (2) the ultimate liability of the Florida Bar to pay documentary stamp tax because of an obligation to do so established by written agreement.

-8-

Petitioner tried to distinguish Lewis on three grounds. One was that Lewis was decided prior to the 1987 Amendment. Petitioner argues that the 1987 Amendment legislatively overruled Lewis. The Legislature did not state, in the 1987 Amendment nor in the legislative history of the 1987 Amendment, that it intended to legislatively overrule <u>Lewis</u>. The February staff report, Respondents' Appendix A, shows that the Legislature intended to legislatively overrule State ex rel Green, 173 So. 2d 129 (Fla. 1955). Green is the only case mentioned in any of the legislative history. By referring to the February staff report, we can avoid the conjecture continaed in Petitioner's footnote 37 about which cases the staff might have been referring to.

In targeting <u>Green</u>, the Legislature apparently intended to eliminate the type of "blanket" transactional tax immunity which Petitioner says <u>Green</u> produced. "Blanket" immunity means that a document would not be subject to documentary stamp tax if one of the parties to the document was immune from taxation. The 1987 Amendment identified the immune entities to be "the United States, the state or any political subdivision of the state".

As noted in <u>Maas Brothers, Inc. v. Dickinson</u>, 195 So. 2d 193, 197 (Fla. 1967): "[T]he judicial pronouncements of this Court...were before the legislature and if it had been intended to bring instruments of the nature we are concerned with here under the law, the legislature had every opportunity to do so, but did not". If the Legislature had intended to legislatively overrule <u>Lewis</u>, it could have done so. But, Appellants submit that the Legislature did not do so with the 1987 Amendment.

-9-

The instant case does not involve transactional tax immunity of the breadth that Petitioner describes in its argument. Respondents have sought to establish that deeds delivered under threat of condemnation are immune, and particularly so when the payment of the tax liability would fall upon a tax immune entity like Orange County.

Lewis did not create a "blanket" type of immunity. Lewis only holds that if the application of Ch. 201, Fla. Stat., results in the indirect imposition of documentary stamp tax on a tax immune entity, the application of Ch. 201 is unconstitutional. Nowhere in the Lewis opinion is there even a suggestion that the decision was reached because one party to the document was tax immune. If this had been the ruling, the opinion would have been much shorter.

Lewis, Arvida Corporation v Florida Dept. of Revenue, Case No. 74-1341-CA-01 (12th Circuit), affirmed per curiam 378 So. 2d 355 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980), cert. denied 383 So. 2d 1192 (Fla. 1980), and Dept. of Revenue v. Florida Municipal Fower Agency, 473 So. 2d 1348 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), did not create any "blanket" type of immunity from documentary stamp tax. Those opinions have a much narrower scope, dealing as they do with indirect taxation of a tax immune entity and conveyances made and documents delivered under threat of condemnation. <u>Cohen-Ager, Inc. v. Department of Revenue</u>, 504 So. 2d 1332 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) demonstrates that, contrary to Petitioner's statements, no "blanket" immunity had been recognized for documents to which a county was a party. In <u>Cohen-Ager</u>, the 3rd DCA held that the non-immune party to a deed to Dade County had to pay the documentary stamp tax on the deed. <u>Cohen-Ager</u> did not involve a conveyance under threat of condemnation and in lieu of eminent domain proceedings.

Another distinction Petitioner claims for <u>Lewis</u> is that the documentary stamp tax was involuntarily imposed upon the Florida Bar, but that Orange County voluntarily agreed to pay the documentary stamp tax in the instant case.

It is ironic that Petitioner tries to distinguish <u>Lewis</u> on this basis because it has been Respondents contention all along that the involuntary nature of a conveyance under threat of condemnation and in lieu of eminent domain produces non-taxability of deeds delivered under such circumstances. If this Court were to conclude that the basis for <u>Lewis</u> was the involuntary imposition of the documentary stamp tax, then this Court should also conclude, as Respondents argue under Point II, <u>infra</u>, that a deed delivered under threat of condemnation and in lieu of eminent domain proceedings is not "...a document taxable under this chapter [201, Fla. Stat.]", quoting from the 1987 Amendment, and is therefore <u>not</u> subject to documentary stamp taxation.

Petitioner says that Battaglia entered into an arms length transaction with Orange County. That is not true. The transaction between Respondents was brought about because of the sovereign authority of Orange County to take or condemn Battaglia's property. This is far different than the facts in <u>Lewis</u> which show that the Florida Bar and Barnett voluntarily entered into a loan agreement. Because the nature of the transaction between Respondents was involuntary as to the private party upon whom Petitioner would visit liability for documentary stamp tax, interest and penalty,

-11-

Petitioner's arguments based upon the Florida Bar/Florida Realtor ("FAR/BAR") form contract for residential real estate sales are not germane. Petitioner's suppositions about the standard Florida Bar real estate contract are irrelevant and not supported in any way by the record. The FAR/BAR contract contemplates a voluntary transaction, i.e. a willing seller. The transactions in the instant case were not voluntary on Battaglia's part. Orange County and Battaglia did not use the Florida Bar contract.

Petitioner exaggerates the facts in Lewis and misconstrues the opinion when asserting that Lewis was determined as it was because the Florida Bar was involuntarily forced by Barnett Bank to pay the documentary stamp tax. Petitioner says that the Florida Bar's agreement to pay the documentary stamp tax in Lewis was part of a "contract of adhesion". An adhesion contract has been characterized as being unilateral in nature, forced upon an unknowing and unwilling party for services which can not be readily obtained elsewhere. Jones v. Dressel, 623 P. 2d 370, 374 (Colo. 1981). A contract was found not to be an adhesion contract where it was not shown that the parties were greatly disparate in bargaining power, that there was no opportunity for negotiation, that the services could not have been obtained elsewhere and that the offended party was uneducated, inexperienced or uninformed. Clinic Masters, Inc., v. District Court in and for El Paso County, 556 P. 2d 473, 475 (Colo. 1976).

The <u>Lewis</u> opinion does not reflect facts which support Petitioner's suppositions and speculation about the nature of the transaction in that case. The <u>Lewis</u> opinion does not contain even

-12-

a hint that the basis for the decision was that the Florida Bar had been victimized by an adhesion contract. If this had been the rationale, then the remedy should have been to strike the offending part of the contract. This was not the relief granted in <u>Lewis</u>, indicating that the <u>Lewis</u> decision had nothing to do with adhesion terms or the involuntary indirect imposition of the tax upon the tax immune Florida Bar.

Petitioner argues that but for the "contract of adhesion", this Court would have concluded that the Florida Bar waived its immunity from taxation when the Florida Bar agreed as part of the loan transaction to pay all taxes. There is no basis whatsoever in <u>Lewis</u> to support Petitioner's argument. The law pertaining to waiver, <u>infra</u>, pp. 13-17, does not support Petitioner's inference that the Florida Bar could have waived its immunity from tax.

The last distinction which Petitioner attempts is that <u>Lewis</u> involved separation of powers, as a contrast to immunity. In <u>Lewis</u>, this Court ruled that loan document could not be taxed under the circumstances of that case because the Florida Bar was immune from taxation. This Court found that the Florida Bar was immune because it is a part of the judicial branch of government. It was the immunity which made the Florida Bar non-taxable. The source of the immunity was not material to the decision. Petitioner confuses the source of the immunity with the reason for non-taxability. The 5th DCA correctly rejected Petitioner's separation of powers argument.

Petitioner raises the argument of waiver in two aspects, (1) that the 1987 Amendment waived Orange County's immunity from

-13-

documentary stamp taxation and (2) that Orange County waived its immunity from taxation.

The argument that the Legislature intended to waive tax immunity by adopting the 1987 Amendment is patently contrary to legislative intent expressed in the 1987 Amendment and to the description of that intent given by Petitioner in this case. In the 1987 Amendment, the Legislature stated: "[Any] tax specified in this chapter [201, Fla. Stat.] shall be paid by a non-exempt party to the document". The Legislature clearly intended that tax immune entities not be taxed. Further, a waiver should not be recognized which would transgress public policy. Fla. Jur. 2d, Estoppel and Waiver, §87, p. 544. The tax immunity of the state and counties in Florida has been a longstanding matter of public policy and of the organic law of this state. See Park-N-Shop v. Sparkman, supra; Dickinson v. City of Tallahassee, 325 So. 2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1975) ("There are compelling policy reasons for the doctrine [of tax immunity]..."). This argument of waiver by the Legislature should be rejected outright as completely contrary to and irreconcilable with the 1987 Amendment, with public policy and with Petitioner's other arguments.

Petitioner claims that <u>State v. Alford</u>, 107 So. 2d 27 (Fla. 1958) and <u>Dickinson v. City of Tallahassee</u>, 325 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1975) support Petitioner's argument that the Legislature could waive Orange County's tax immunity. Initial Brief, pp. 37 - 40. Neither decision supports such a claim.

This Court in <u>Alford</u> ruled that the "exemption" of state owned lands from taxation is "not dependent upon statutory or

-14-

constitutional provisions but rests upon broad grounds of fundamentals in government". The distinction drawn by this Court indicates that the "broad grounds of fundamentals in government" source of "exemption" superior to "statutorv are \mathbf{or} а constitutional provisions". That this is the Court's conclusion is apparent because this Court refers to the latter source of "exemption" as being more limited in scope than an "exemption" based upon "broad grounds of fundamentals in government". The quoted language used by this Court reflects that the "exemption" of the state owned lands would exist whether or not it had been included in a statute.

This is precisely the 5th DCA's and Respondents' position. The focus of the instant action is not upon the language of the 1987 Amendment "[u]nless exempt". The focus of this case is upon <u>tax immunity</u>, not upon tax exemption. The former is part of the organic law of the state and its constitution and is not dependent upon any grace or favor of the Legislature. In discussing <u>Alford</u>, Respondents used quotations around "exemption" because this Court in <u>Alford</u> was obviously dealing with immunity, although it used the term "exemption". This possible confusion must be avoided in order to correctly understand the merits of the instant case, as the 5th DCA did.

In <u>Alford</u>, this Court also declared invalid a statute which professed to authorize taxation of state owned lands, title to which was held by the Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission. The language quoted by Petitioner to the effect that the Legislature

-15-

could allow state land to be taxed was mere dicta because this Court ruled that the act under review did not do so.

In Dickinson v. City of Tallahassee, 325 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1975), this Court ruled that the state had not waived its immunity from The City of Tallahassee sought to levy and collect a taxation. non-ad valorem tax on all utilities purchased by the State and its agencies from the city. The city argued that constitutional provision for cities to levy taxes implied a waiver of immunity. The state argued that it was immune from taxation and that any waiver of that immunity must be expressly stated in the This Court held that the state was Constitution or statute. immune from the city's utility tax, and ruled that there had not been an express waiver of that immunity. Dickinson defeats Petitioner's claim that the 1987 Amendment had the effect of waiving the immunity of Orange County, as a political subdivision of the state, from documentary stamp tax.

There is absolutely nothing in the record of our case which supports Petitioner's claim that Orange County waived its immunity. There is no evidence that Orange County intended to waive its immunity. Waiver is the intentional or voluntary relinquishment of a known right. Fla. Jur. 2d, <u>Estoppel and Waiver</u>, §86, p. 540; §89, p. 547. The record in the instant case shows that at the time of the written agreements between the Respondents and of the delivery and recording of deeds from Battaglia to Orange County, Orange County, as well as Battaglia, concluded that no documentary stamp tax was payable upon said deeds. This conclusion was consistent with Petitioner's administrative rules, Fla. Admin. Code

-16-

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